
Page 1 of 2 

AGENDA FOR SPECIAL MEETING 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

PLAN COMMISSION 

 June 28, 2017 – 7:30 P.M. 
Andrew High School Theater 

9001 W. 171st Street, Tinley Park, IL 60487 
 

Special Meeting Called to Order 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call Taken 
Communications 
Approval of Minutes: Minutes of the June 15, 2017 Regular Meeting 
 
Item #1 PUBLIC HEARING: THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST 

CORNER OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET –SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
FOR A SUBSTANTIAL DEVIATION WITH SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Andrea Crowley of 
Griffin & Gallagher, LLC on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside 
Joint Venture, a Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen 
Planned Unit Development with Site Plan Approval and any related Exceptions to develop 
a one hundred forty-four (144) unit multi-family residential project with associate 
amenities and clubhouse for the properties generally located west of Magnuson Lane and 
John Michael Drive. 

 
Good of the Order 
Receive Comments from the Public 
Adjourn Meeting 
 
  



Page 2 of 2 

ORDER OF PUBLIC HEARING 

A. Opening of Public Hearing (voice vote) 

B. Swearing in Petitioner, Objectors, and Interested Persons  

C. Confirmation of notices being published and mailed in accordance with State law and Village 
Code/Zoning Ordinance requirements 

D. Village Staff Presentation  

E. Petitioner Presentation 

i. Cross Examination 

ii. Questions by Public Body 

F. Objectors Presentation(s)  

i. Cross Examination  

ii. Questions by Public Body 

G. Petitioner Rebuttal (if any) 

H. Final questions by Public Body 

I. Closing remarks by Petitioner, Objectors, Interested Persons, and Village Staff 

J. Close or continuation of Public Hearing 

K. Staff presents Findings of Fact 

L. Vote by Roll Call 

 

PUBLIC HEARING REMINDERS 

• All public hearings of a Public Body are meetings as defined by the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 
120/1 et seq.). 

• Prior to the commencement of the public hearing, the Chair will determine whether there are any 
Objectors or other Interested Persons and if an attorney represents any Objector, group of Objectors or 
Interested Persons. 

• All individuals desiring to participate in the public hearing process must participate in a swearing of an 
oath.  

• The Chair may impose reasonable limitations on evidence or testimony presented by persons and parties, 
such as barring repetitious, irrelevant or immaterial testimony. 

• The Chair may take such actions as are required to maintain an orderly and civil hearing. 

 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 1 of 11 

MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 

 
JUNE 15, 2017 

 
The Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on June 
15, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan  
    Peter Kroner  

Anthony Janowski 
Lori Kappel 
Ed Matushek III, Chairman 

 
Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Ken Shaw 

Kevin Bergthold 
Tim Stanton 

 
Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 
    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 

    
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK called to order the Regular meeting of the Plan 
Commission for June 1, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. 
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 
There were none. 
 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK stated the minutes from the June 1, 2017 meeting should be amended on 
page 13 to state the Petition submitted by Resident #8 should mention the opposition of the Residences of 
Brookside Glen development on both height and site plan.  There are more than 500 signatures opposing 
the development on this Petition. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER stated the minutes from the June 1, 2017 meeting should be amended on 
page 12 to say that after his statements asking about the Tracy Cross Market Study that was going to be 
presented to us, it was committed to by Mr. Gregory and Ms. Crowley that the Plan Commission and 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 2 of 11 

Staff would have the Tracy Cross Market Study presented to us no later than June 12, 2017.  Those 
statements were made on behalf of the Petitioner.   
 
Minutes of the June 1, 2017 regular meeting of the Plan Commission were presented for approval.  A 
Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, to 
approve the Minutes as amended. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  CHAIRMAN 
MATUSHEK declared the Motion approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted the continuation of the Public Hearing for the Residences of Brookside 
Glen.  Due to the number of people planning on attending the Public Hearing it has been decided to close 
the Public Hearing and hold a new meeting on June 28, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. at Andrew High School to 
accommodate the crowd.   
 
 
 
  
 

  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 3 of 11 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE JUNE 15, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
Item #1: PUBLIC HEARING CONTINUATION: THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE 

GLEN – SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – 
SITE PLAN PPROVAL AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT 

 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval and consider recommending that the Village Board 
grant the Petitioner, Andrea Crowley of Griffin & Gallagher, LLC on behalf of Karli 
Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, a Special Use Permit for a 
Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development and any related 
Exceptions to develop a one hundred forty-four (144) unit multi-family residential project 
(a.k.a. The Residences at Brookside Glen) fort the properties generally located west of 
Magnuson Lane and John Michael Drive.   

 
Present were the following 

Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan  
     Peter Kroner  

Anthony Janowski 
Lori Kappel 
Ed Matushek III, Chairman 

 
Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Ken Shaw 

Kevin Bergthold 
Tim Stanton 

 
Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 

     Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
    

 Guest(s):   None 
  
    
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER KRONER, seconded by COMMISSIONER MOYLAN, to 
open the Public Hearing Continuation on THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN APPROVAL AND SPECIAL 
USE PERMIT. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK 
declared the Motion approved. 
 
COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI asked Staff how the decision was made to locate the next Public Hearing 
at Andrew High School. He asked if using Odyssey Country Club was contemplated since it might be 
more convenient for the residents. 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, replied the meeting was set up by the Clerk’s Office.  She stated that it 
may have had to do with the availability of the space and the cost involved.  She added that Staff has 
already put the Legal Notice in the newspaper per State requirements and that location was included in 
the notice.   
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 4 of 11 

COMMISSIONER KRONER noted the Petitioner has made numerous statements and promises to this  
Commission.  He asked if Staff or any of the other Commissioners received the updated Tracy Cross 
Market Study that was promised by June 12, 2017. MS. KISLER replied that Staff had not yet received 
the Market Study. COMMISSIONERS replied that they had not either. 
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER stated once again the Petitioner has failed to live up to an expectation that 
they committed to this Commission and to the residents of Tinley Park.  This is not the first time this has 
happened and to make a commitment to a public body and entertaining their Petition is inexcusable.   
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER MOYLAN, seconded by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, to 
close the Public Hearing Continuation on THE RESIDENCE AT BROOKSIDE GLEN – SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF MAGNUSON LANE AND 191ST STREET – SITE PLAN APPROVAL AND SPECIAL 
USE PERMIT. The Motion was approved unanimously by voice call.  CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK 
declared the Motion approved. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted that the Plan Commission will hold another Public Hearing for this 
project on June 28, 2017 at 7:30 p.m. at Andrew High School to accommodate the crowd.   
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 5 of 11 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE JUNE 15, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
Item #2: PORTILLO’S DRIVE-THRU MODIFICATION – 15900 HARLEM AVENUE – 

SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
  
 Consider granting Site Plan Approval to the Applicant, Wendy Hunter of Hunter 

Development Group on behalf of Portillo’s Hot Dogs, LLC, for a modification to the 
existing drive-thru lane and related site improvements. 

 
Present were the following 

Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan  
     Peter Kroner  

Anthony Janowski 
Lori Kappel 
Ed Matushek III, Chairman 

 
Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Ken Shaw 

Kevin Bergthold 
Tim Stanton 

 
Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 

     Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
    

 Guest(s):   Jeffrey T. Nance, A.I.A., R.A. Smith National 
     Adam C. Brown, Facilities & Construction Manager, Portillo’s 
 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, noted Portillo’s is looking to expand their drive-thru to allow for an 
expansion along the north side of the current drive-thru lane.  The Applicant proposes widening the north 
side of the drive-thru lane, adding pavement markings for increased safety, relocation of the existing 
menu board and speaker, and adding a new presales menu board and adding new landscaping in areas.  
This is a relatively small scale project and only requires Site Plan Approval from the Plan Commission.  
We do not require a Public Hearing in this case as there are no Variations proposed.  The Plan 
Commission may elect to take action at this meeting if they feel it is appropriate. 
 
MS. KISLER presented the existing color site plan. She noted that the site is located at the southwest 
corner of 159th Street and Harlem Avenue.  The existing drive-thru is one lane wide on the north and east 
sides and two lanes wide on the west side and has stacking for about 37 cars.  Staff and more specifically 
the Police Department were concerned about the entrance and exit to the drive-thru where vehicles are 
leaving.  The Applicant has agreed to add a stop bar to stop the stacking from being so close to the exit 
and make dedicated space for turning left and right out of the drive-thru exit. These improvements will 
increase safety at the exit of the drive-thru.  The Applicant will also be removing some of the landscaping 
in order to expand the north side of the drive-thru; however, the Applicant also will be making landscape 
improvements in around the north and east sides of the drive-thru lanes.   
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 6 of 11 

MS. KISLER stated the site is zoned B-3 PD.  The site is bordered by B-3 PD zoning to the west, Orland 
Park to the north, B-2 PD zoning to the east.  The nearest residentially-zoned property is the church to the 
west.   
 
MS. KISLER noted there are not any open items.  The Applicant has complied with any concerns Staff 
has had through the review process. They will be widening the north portion of the drive-thru lane to 
accommodate additional stacking/by-pass lane area.  They will be adding improvements to landscaping at 
the site which will beautify a major entrance into the Village of Tinley Park. 
 
COMMISSINER KRONER asked if the 10’ lanes were wide enough. MS. KISLER replied there are no 
regulations for the size of the drive-thru lanes within the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
JEFFREY NANCE, R.A. Smith National, (Civil Engineers for the project) stated the Staff did an 
excellent job and Portillo’s has no objections to make the improvements.  Portillo’s is excited about this 
improvement, which will benefit the customers and the employees.  He added this will improve the safety 
of the employees and the landscaping will beautify the site.   
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN asked how the stop bar worked.  MR. NANCE replied it is painted 
markings on the pavement.   
 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN asked how the cars in the lanes will make their orders and pay.  MR. 
NANCE replied there are 6-8 employees out in the drive-thru lane at all times taking orders, payments, 
and doing directing traffic.   
 
Hearing no further discussion, CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked for a motion. 
 
Motion was make by COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, seconded by COMMISSIONER MOYLAN, to 
grant Site Plan Approval to the Applicant, Wendy Hunter of Hunter Development Group on behalf of 
Portillo’s Hot Dogs, LLC, for the modifications to the existing drive-thru lane at the Portillo’s located at 
15900 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit 
Development) in accordance with plans as noted on the List of Reviewed Plans within the Staff Report. 
 

AYES:  PLAN COMMISSIONERS Mark Moylan, Peter Kroner, Anthony Janowski, Lori 
Kappel, and Ed Matushek, Chairman 

 
NAYS: None 

 
The Motion was approved unanimously by Roll Call.  CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK declared the Motion 
approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 7 of 11 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE JUNE 15, 2017 REGULAR MEETING 
 
Item # 3: TINLEY PARK DISTRIBUTION CENTER #7 – SOUTHWEST CORNER OF I-80 

& RIDGELAND AVENUE – SITE PLAN APPROVAL  
  

Consider granting Site Plan Approval to the Applicant, Don Schoenheider of Hillwood 
on behalf of I-80 Commerce Center No. 2, LLC, for a 295,690 square foot industrial 
building and related site improvements.   

 
Present were the following 

Plan Commissioners:   Mark Moylan  
     Peter Kroner  

Anthony Janowski 
Lori Kappel 
Ed Matushek III, Chairman 

 
Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Ken Shaw 

Kevin Bergthold 
Tim Stanton 

 
Village Officials and Staff: Stephanie Kisler, Planner I 

     Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 
    

 Guest(s):   Gregory Scovitch, Vice President of Development, Hillwood 
 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, introduced the Tinley Park Distribution Center #7 project and noted 
that they are requesting Site Plan Approval. This is building #2 within Tinley Park Corporate Center 
PUD.  Tinley Park Corporate Center is located south of I-80 between Oak Park Avenue and Ridgeland 
Avenue.  There is already an existing 915,000 square foot building that was built back in 2008.  They are 
looking to construct the second building on Lot 2 of the subdivision.  The building will be 295,690 square 
feet.  It is an industrial spec building, which is a shell with no tenants identified yet.  This includes a 
completely new building, parking, lighting, stormwater retention, public utilities, and landscaping.  The 
site is currently vacant land.   
 
MS. KISLER showed a proposed rendering of the building, which is complementary to the existing 
building on Lot 1.  It is made of precast in different gray tones.  MS. KISLER passed out the building 
materials to the Plan Commissioners for review.   
 
MS. KISLER noted this plan only requires Site Plan Approval from the Plan Commission.  We do not 
require a Public Hearing in this case as there is no Variations proposed.  The Plan Commission may elect 
to take action at this meeting if they deem it appropriate. 
 
MS. KISLER added that the Petitioner would like to start construction next fall with completion mid-
2018.   
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 8 of 11 

MS. KISLER displayed an image of the existing site, which is currently vacant, with a triangular shaped 
retention pond on Lot 3.  Lot 2 will connect with Lot 1 on the west side of the property.  They will share 
the access point on Prosperi Drive that currently is utilized on Lot 1.  They will connect to Ridgeland 
Avenue.   
 
MS. KISLER discussed the site history: 

• 2007: The property was granted rezoning from R-1 to M-1 and a Special Use Permit for a PUD 
known as the Tinley Park Corporate Center/First Industrial Planned Unit Development. These 
approvals are found within Ordinance 2007-O-007 (included in the Plan Commission meeting 
packet). 

• 2008: The first building in the PUD is constructed on Lot 1. 
• 2012: The first building on Lot 1 is leased to a tenant after sitting vacant for several years. Also, a 

small parcel (.672± acres) in the northwest corner of the PUD is annexed per Ordinance 2012-O-
029. The 2012 Staff Report indicates that this parcel was mistakenly not annexed in the past and 
had to be annexed in order for the PUD to record their Final Plat of Subdivision. Additionally, the 
property owner requested formal approval to re-phase the project from one phase to two phases, 
which requires a Substantial Deviation from the PUD. The Substantial Deviation was put on hold 
while the Petitioner and Staff worked on an acceptable Escrow Agreement. 

• 2015: A Substantial Deviation from the PUD is approved as Ordinance 2015-O-044 (included in 
the Plan Commission meeting packet). This Ordinance allows the PUD to be two phases rather 
than one. 

• 2017: The Final Plat of Subdivision is recorded on April 19, 2017. The property changes 
ownership and plans are submitted for Lot 2 on April 25, 2017. 

 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked what School District this was.  MS. KISLER replied it is Rich 
Township High School District; the elementary school district is 159 and the secondary school district is 
Rich 227. 
 
MS. KISLER noted the site is zoned M-1 PD.  The site is bordered by M-1 PD zoning to the west, R-6 
zoning north of I-80, and unincorporated vacant Cook County land to the east and south.   
 
MS. KISLER highlighted some facts about the proposed plans:  

• Total Site Area (Lot 2 and Lot 3): 1,001,749 square feet (23 acres) 
• Building Area: 295,690 square feet (6.79 acres) 
• Impervious Area: 317,025 square feet (7.28 acres) 
• Green Space: 209,638 square feet (4.81 acres / 25.5% of total area) 
• Parking: 347 spaces 
• Truck Docks: 36 (plus room for 32 future truck docks) 
• Trailer Parking: 80 spaces 
• Drive-In Doors: 2 

 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked who would be responsible for the ponds on the property.  Previous 
complaints have been made on the existing building.  MS. KISLER replied it would be their 
responsibility and the Village Landscape Architect would be handling the inspections.  There is a 
landscape maintenance agreement in place for the current ponds and another agreement will be drafted for 
the new ponds. 
 
MS. KISLER also noted there is a minor deviation in this case.  The building is 1.7% smaller than what 
was originally approved.  Because this is such a minor change and it is smaller, there would be no Special 
Use Permit that would be required.  The PUD called for 1.2 million square feet as a whole between the 2 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 9 of 11 

buildings on Lot 1 and Lot 2 and this building will put it over that at 1.210 million square feet.  This 
would be approximately 10,000 square feet over what was originally anticipated, so it would not be 
reducing the overall size of the PUD even though this particular building is slightly smaller than the 
original plans. 
 
MS. KISLER noted the following: 
 

The Applicant must ensure that the conditions of Ordinance 2007-O-007 are met. The 
current plans do not show “the access drive to Ridgeland Avenue shall provide one in-
bound lane and two out-bound lanes, the out-bound lanes being a left turn lane and a 
right-turn lane.” The Applicant must revise the plans accordingly prior to receiving a 
building permit. Because Ridgeland Avenue is a County road, any access will be subject 
to County review.   
 

2. Because this is just a shell, they have not made arrangements for exterior dumpsters.   
 

3. Security cameras/gates/fencing was not proposed as part of the construction since 
tenant(s) have not yet been identified. The Plan Commission may wish to consider if the 
addition of security features should be a condition for tenant(s) prior to receiving a 
Certificate of Occupancy. 

 
4. HVAC systems have not yet been designed. The Plan Commission may wish to consider 

requiring that all ground and rooftop HVAC units be adequately screened from view. 
 

5. The Applicant did not submit a specific Sign Plan for the project since the tenant is 
unknown at this time; the plans do indicate possible freestanding sign locations and wall 
sign locations.   

 
6. The Village’s Landscape Architect has not given final approval to the proposed 

Landscape Plan. The Plan Commission may wish to consider the final approval from the 
Landscape Architect as a condition of Site Plan Approval. 

 
COMMISSIONER MOYLAN asked about public sidewalks. MS. KISLER replied that she discussed this 
with the Village Engineer and due to the grade change along Ridgeland Avenue it would be very difficult 
to construct sidewalks along Ridgeland Avenue. The sidewalk would not connect with any existing 
sidewalk either.  Eventually the Village would like to potentially have a bike lane along Ridgeland 
Avenue.   

 
GREGORY SCOVITCH, Vice President of Development at Hillwood, thanked Staff and the Commission 
for their consideration and hard work.  Hillwood is thrilled to be in Tinley Park.   He showed the 
Commission samples of the materials that will be used.   
 
COMMISSIONER KRONER asked if any of the conditions that were mentioned were a problem.  MR. 
SCOVITCH replied that the rooftop HVAC screening could be considered if the units were visible.   
 
Hearing no further discussion, CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK asked for a Motion. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER MOYLAN, seconded by COMMISSIONER KRONER, to 
grant Site Plan Approval to the Applicant, Don Schoenheider of Hillwood on behalf of I-80 Commerce 
Center No. 2, LLC, for a 295,690 square foot industrial building and related site improvements, including 
parking, lighting, stormwater detention, public utilities, and landscaping at the property located in the 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 10 of 11 

southwest corner of I-80 and Ridgeland Avenue within the M-1 PD (General Manufacturing, Tinley Park 
Corporate Center/First Industrial Planned Unit Development) in accordance with plans as noted on the 
List of Reviewed Plans within the Staff Report. 
 
…with the following conditions 
 

1. That the plans are revised at building permit stage to show the access drive to Ridgeland Avenue 
shall provide one in-bound lane and two out-bound lanes, the out-bound lanes being a left turn 
lane and a right-turn lane in accordance with Ordinance 2007-0-007, subject to County review. 

2. That the Petitioner will provide security cameras. 
3. That all HVAC systems are adequately screened as determined by Staff during building permit 

review if the HVAC is visible from public right-of-way. If HVAC is not visible from the public 
right-of-way the screening requirement will be waived. 

4. The final approval of the Landscape Plan must be given by the Village Landscape Architect prior 
to release of any building permits. 

 
 

AYES:  PLAN COMMISSIONERS Mark Moylan, Peter Kroner, Anthony Janowski, Lori 
Kappel, and Ed Matushek, Chairman 

 
NAYS: None 

 
The Motion was approved unanimously by Roll Call.  CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK declared the Motion 
approved. 
 
  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commssion  
                             June 15,  2017           

Page 11 of 11 

RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 
No one from the audience wished to speak. 
 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK noted a receipt of a letter to the Commissioners from residents of Tinley Park 
stating concerns and objections on the proposed Residences of Brookside Glen project. The letter is 
attached. 
 
 
GOOD OF THE ORDER: 
 
STEPHANIE KISLER, Planner I, stated earlier this week Staff presented the Text Amendments to the 
Sign Regulations to the Community Development Committee and they determined that Option B was 
their preferred selection.  She reminded the Commissioners that Option B regulated the panels by 
requiring the same background color for all panels on the sign but allowed the use of different fonts and 
font colors. 
 
MS. KISLER also reminded the Commission about the Special Meeting of the Plan Commission on 
Wednesday, June 28th at 7:30 p.m. at Andrew High School for the Public Hearing on the proposed 
Residences of Brookside Glen project. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, a Motion was made by COMISSIONER MOYLAN, seconded by 
COMMISSIONER JANOWSKI, to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of June 15, 
2017 at 8:40 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION 
CHAIRMAN MATUSHEK declared the meeting adjourned.   
    
 
 
 





PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
June 28, 2017 
 
The Residences at Brookside Glen 
Southwest Corner of Magnuson Lane & 191st Street 
 

 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Applicant, Andrea T. Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg 
Brookside Joint Venture, seeks a Special Use Permit with Site Plan Approval for a 
Substantial Deviation from the approved Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development 
(PUD). The Applicant proposes to construct two (2) multi-family structures with seventy-
two (72) one and two bedroom rental units in each building for a total of 144 units and a 
3,495 square foot clubhouse.   
 
This is the third Staff Report regarding this project. Prior Staff Reports (5/18/2017 and 
6/1/2017) can be found on the Village website.  The Plan Commission held a workshop 
for the proposed development on May 18, 2017 and a Public Hearing on June 1, 2017. The 
Commission requested the Public Hearing be continued to the next meeting to allow for 
additional public input.  Due to concerns regarding the adequacy of seating at the Village 
Hall, the Public Hearing was re-noticed to allow for a new Public Hearing at a larger 
venue for June 28, 2017.   
 
The Staff Report will not replicate information previously provided and instead shall 
highlight the key facts, concerns and resolutions from comments at prior meetings, and 
analyze required standards for approval related to this project.  
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
Applicant 
Andrea Crowley on behalf 
of Karli Mayher and KJM-
Vandenberg Brookside 
Joint Venture 
 
 
Property Location 
SWC of Magnuson Lane and 
191st Street 
 
 
Parcel Size 
7.65 ac 
 
 
Zoning 
R-5 PD 
 
 
PINs 
19-09-11-200-015-0000 
19-09-11-200-013-0000 
 
 
Approvals Sought 
Special Use Permit with 
Site Plan Approval for a 
Substantial Deviation from 
a PUD (which includes 
exceptions from Zoning 
Ordinance) 
 
 
Project Planners 
Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 
Interim Community 
Development Director 
 
Stephanie Kisler, AICP  
Planner I 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 2 of 17 
 

FACTS 
 

1. Applicant Request: The issue before the Plan Commission is approval of a Substantial Deviation from the 
Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD) approved in 1990.  For the past 27 years this PUD has 
evolved; reacting to market demands and economics.  See the attached timeline for specific references to 
approvals and ordinances related to this property. The original PUD of 828 acres provided for a mix of uses 
as illustrated below.  The Annexation Agreement (90-R-002) references this exhibit (Exhibit C) and the 
proposed location of uses.  The subject property (Part of Parcel C) is highlighted in yellow.  The Applicant is 
not requesting a rezoning of the property.  The Applicant’s request is to deviate from Ordinance 2000-O-
006 (Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen PUD), which approved nine (9) structures of sixteen 
(16) dwelling units each for this property (total of 144 units) to instead construct two (2) structures of 
seventy-two (72) dwelling units (total of 144 units) and a clubhouse with a pool and other various 
residential amenities. 
 
The zoning on the subject property was established as part of the original Planned Unit Development upon 
annexation in 1990.  The Annexation Agreement references zoning for this area (see 90-R-002). There was 
no specific development proposal for Parcel C until 1999-2000, when the Developer requested a Substantial 
Deviation that would diminish the townhome area in exchange for an increase in the number of single 
family homes and an increase in the building height of the condominiums proposed for Parcel C.  The only 
reference to rezoning in the Substantial Deviation in 2000 was for a portion of the townhome area (R-5) to 
be rezoned to (R-2) Single-Family Residential.  
 

 
 

Excerpt of Exhibit C within Resolution 90-R-002 with “Parcel C” Areas Highlighted 
 

2. Understanding Planned Unit Developments.  In 1990, the annexation of 828 acres was a significant 
endeavor for the Village of Tinley Park.  To plan for a development of this magnitude, the Village utilized a 
common master planning technique by annexing the parcel as a PUD.  It is important to understand that a 
PUD inherently provides flexibility in its planning and zoning.  The PUD approved in 1990 provided a 
master plan for the 828 acre property as a guide to its future potential.  As stated in Section VII of the 
Zoning Ordinance, the purpose of a Planned Unit Development is “to facilitate and encourage the 
construction of imaginative and coordinated developments and to provide relief from the subdivision and 
zoning requirements which are designed for conventional developments, but which may inhibit innovation of 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 3 of 17 
 

design and cause undue hardship with regard to developing a parcel of land to its best possible use.”  When 
analyzing a development proposal in a PUD the underlying zoning is ‘suspended’ and the review is guided 
by the overall intent of the PUD and the standards established for Special Uses (Section X.5.) and Planned 
Unit Developments (Section VII.C.)  Staff has prepared findings utilizing these standards in the section 
below. 
 

3. Site Plan.  At prior meetings concerns have been expressed from residents in the area regarding the Site 
Plan.  Most specifically, there were concerns regarding the adjacency of the outdoor terrace to the existing 
townhomes.  The Applicant has modified the Site Plan and relocated the terrace to the north end of the 
building.   
 

 
 

Comments were also received regarding the location of the dog park.  The Applicant has responded to this 
concern by noting that the dog park will not have any lighting and will therefore close at dusk. The only 
relocation of the dog park would be to the north end of the parcel where the arboretum is proposed; this is 
a much smaller area. The Applicant feels this will compromise the quality of this amenity if moved to a 
smaller location.   The parking adjacent to the dog park has been identified as ‘land banked’ and therefore 
will not be improved as part of the initial development but will be available if there is a need for additional 
parking in the future.  In addition, the parking has been reoriented so that cars parking near the dog park 
would not be facing the townhomes. 
 

4. Landscaping.  Due to concerns expressed at previous meetings regarding the screening of the dog park, 
additional landscaping has been provided.  
 

 
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 4 of 17 
 

5. Exceptions. 
a. Building Setback: The proposed buildings are located closer to the street in order to meet the intent 

of the Urban Design Overlay (UD-1) District, which establishes a maximum front yard setback of 
twenty feet (20’).  It is important to note that the Urban Overlay District is intended “to establish and 
promote specific design standards concerned with the character and placement of non-residential 
buildings within the district, including parking and other accessory uses, as well as the role and nature 
of the spaces between the buildings and the public streets.” Even though the UD-1 is referenced for 
non-residential buildings, the overall character of the attached housing in the PUD respects the 
intent of this overlay district which creates “development patterns that accommodate the 
automobile, but are primarily designed to promote non-motorized and public transportation 
movements to, within, and among properties.”   
 
Staff notes that Building 1 has front yard setbacks that ranges from 14’ to 24’ and Building 2 has 
front yard setbacks ranging from 22’ to 36’.   The clubhouse with is one-story in height ranges from 
11’ to 13’. It is important to consider the scale of the building when determining the most suitable 
setbacks. Due to the height and scale of the buildings, increased setbacks provide opportunity for 
additional landscaping and berming against the foundation wall. Additionally, the curvature of the 
street and the resulting sight lines, along with the curvature of the building façade serve to 
minimize the scale of the building and provide for a more pedestrian scale to the streetscape. As a 
point of reference, there are condominiums of similar scale with respect to height located along 
Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway Boulevard which have setbacks ranging from 24-30’.   
 
The parcel provides some flexibility with respect to increasing the front yard setbacks; however, not 
without compromise. The front yard setback for the clubhouse could be increased; however, Staff 
encouraged the Applicant to minimize the setback to highlight the architecture along the 
streetscape.  Setbacks for each of the residential buildings could also be increased however at the 
expense of usable green space at the rear of the buildings.  Consistent with the intent of the UD-1, 
which will regulate all of the adjacent future commercial structures, the goal is to create an 
architecturally-dominate streetscape that is more urban in character. 
 

b. Building Height: The height of the main ridge line of the proposed multi-family structures is 62’+ 
with the peak of the roof of the central entrance features measuring 69’+.  However, building height 
is measured as “the mean height level between eaves and ridge of gable, hip, and gambrel roofs”; 
therefore, the height of the tallest roof (at the entrance) is considered 62’.  For comparison, the 
height of the main ridge of the condominium units on Brookside Glen Drive and Greenway 
Boulevard is 62’ in height.   
 
The Annexation Agreement (90-O-002) states: “In the portion of the Subject Property zoned R-6 
Medium Density Residential District, the maximum building height shall be 3 stories or 40 feet in 
height provided the appropriate setbacks are applied in accordance with the planned unit 
development provisions of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.”   However, the Substantial Deviation 
(2000-O-006) “provides for an increase in the building height for the proposed condominium units 
from three to four stories, and each condominium building will have underground parking (at least 
one parking stall per condominium unit) and elevators.”  In a subsequent section of the same 
ordinance it states “to allow an increase in the building height in the condominium portion of the 
Planned Unit Development (in the R-5 Low Density Residential District of the Planned Unit 
Development) to allow for four story buildings not to exceed 56 feet in height.”   
 
There continues to be confusion as to why this ordinance references the same area as R-5 instead of 
R-6, but it is also confusing as to how the condominium built as part of Brookside Place are 62’ in 
height.  It is possible that the height limitation of 56’ is in reference to the residential portion of the 
structure and does not include the semi-underground garage.   
 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 5 of 17 
 

Regardless of how the existing structures were allowed to be built, the last governing ordinance 
states 56’ in height.  Therefore, the exception request for the subject property is to construct two 
(2) residential structures with a maximum height of 62’. It is important to note that Staff 
recommended the increase in height for the entrance feature to help break up the expanse of the 
roof as originally proposed.  
 

 

 

Height Analysis of Proposed Buildings Height Analysis of Existing Condo Buildings 
 

 
c. Both the proposed structure and the existing condos on Greenway Boulevard have exposed 

foundations for the semi-underground garages. The Applicant has elected to berm the foundation 
walls at varying heights to mitigate the exposed foundation walls.  In addition, extensive foundation 
landscaping has been provided to soften the look.  The Applicant has also agreed to provide 
climbing landscaping treatments where possible.  Providing the undulating landscape along with 
the partial burial of the ground floor parking areas also allows for increased security and privacy 
for the first floor units.  

 
6. Open Items. 

a. Security: There have been questions raised regarding security cameras. Staff has not received a final 
security plan from the Applicant. Staff recommends making this a condition of approval. 

b. Property management/maintenance: Concerns were raised regarding the continued maintenance of 
the property.  The Applicant has stated that there will be maintenance personnel available 24/7, 
although at this time there is no commitment for resident management. The Applicant has stated 
that there will be a management and leasing office on-site that will be open Monday through Friday 
from 9am to 5pm. 

c. Number of buildings: There has been discussion regarding the size of the proposed residential 
buildings and questions as to whether the Applicant has investigated a 3 or 4 building development.  
The Applicant has stated that several site plan scenarios were investigated at the beginning of the 
project resulting in a strong correlation between number of structures and the amount of open 
space and cost of construction. Having two structures rather than 3, 4, or even 9 structures will 
allow for more open space and amenities for the development. The Applicant has stated that they 
have prioritized the amount of residential amenities for this project and have proposed what they 
feel addresses a demand for rental housing with luxury amenities.  

 
 
 

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 6 of 17 
 

STANDARDS AND CRITERIA FOR PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Section VII.C. of the Zoning Ordinance provides standards and criteria for Planned Unit Developments. Staff 
provides draft responses for each of these standards below (see bullet points) for the Plan Commission’s 
consideration. The Plan Commission may add or delete from these findings based on testimony and discussion 
resulting from Public Hearing testimony. 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR ALL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS: 
 

a. The site of the proposed Planned Unit Development is not less than five (5) acres in area, is under 
single ownership and/or unified control, and is suitable to be planned and developed, or 
redeveloped, as a unit and in a manner consistent with the purpose and intent of this Ordinance and 
with the Comprehensive Plan of the Village; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development is over 800 acres. The subject site is 7.65 acres and is 
under single ownership.  

• The Brookside Glen PUD called for condos/apartments in this area according to Exhibit C of Resolution 
90-R-002.  

 
Excerpt from Exhibit C of 90-R-002 with “Parcel C” Highlighted 

 
• The Village’s Comprehensive Plan notes this site as residential. 

 

 
Excerpt from the Village’s Land Use Plan from the Comprehensive Plan (Yellow = Residential) 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 7 of 17 
 

b. The Planned Unit Development will not substantially injure, or damage the use, value, and 
enjoyment of the surrounding property, nor hinder or prevent the development of surrounding 
property in accordance with the Land Use Plan of the Village; 

• The proposed development does not increase the density or total unit count approved in Ordinance 
2000-O-006. 

• The subject site is vacant land that was planned for condo/apartments according to Exhibit C of 
Resolution 90-R-002 (see graphic in General Provision “a” on the previous page).  

• Single-family dwellings (attached and detached) have already been developed in the vicinity. 
• The Applicant has made revisions to their plans in response to concerns from Staff, the Plan 

Commission, and citizens. Revisions include adding more landscaping to buffer between the existing 
townhomes, relocating the outdoor terrace on Building 2, and reconfiguring the land banked parking 
near the dog park so that the parking would not be facing toward the existing townhomes. 

• Vacant land that was planned for commercial uses (Community Shopping and Office/Restricted 
Industrial) exists to the east of the subject parcel. The proposed development would allow for more 
people to live in this area since 144 dwelling units would be added, which may spur more development 
to occur on vacant parcels in the area near 191st Street and 80th Avenue.  

• The Applicant is not requesting an increase from the number of dwelling units that were approved for 
the condo/apartment portion of the PUD. 

 
c. The uses permitted in the development are necessary or desirable and that the need for such uses 

has been clearly demonstrated; 
• The proposed use (144 dwelling units) is consistent with approvals of formerly adopted documents 90-

R-002 and 2000-O-006. 
• The Applicant has provided a Market Study (prepared by Tracy Cross & Associates) addressing the 

viability of the proposed development.  
 

d. The proposed development will not impose an undue burden on public facilities and services, such 
as sewer and water systems, police, and fire protection; 

• The proposed development does not increase the density or total unit count approved in Ordinance 
2000-O-006. 

• The public improvements and services needed for the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development were 
master planned in the early 1990s when the development was initially approved.  

• The remaining public improvements near the site (completion of Magnuson Lane to 191st Street, street 
lighting, street trees, public sidewalk, stormwater, etc.) must be completed before the proposed 
development can be occupied. 

 
e. The proposed development can be substantially completed within the period of time specified in 

the schedule of development submitted by the developer; 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development has been underway since 1990 and still has vacant 

parcels to be developed.  
• The project is expected to be completed in one phase. 
• All residential amenities are to be completed prior to issuance of final Certificate of Occupancy.  

 
f. The street system serving the Planned Unit Development is adequate to carry the traffic that will be 

imposed upon the streets by the proposed development, and that the streets and driveways on the 
site of the Planned Unit Development will be adequate to serve the residents or occupants of the 
proposed development; 

• The proposed development does not increase the density or total unit count approved in Ordinance 
2000-O-006. 

• The public streets needed for the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development were master planned in 
the early 1990s when the development was initially approved.  

• The proposed development will require the completion of Magnuson Lane and a new connection with 
191st Street. 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 8 of 17 
 

• The proposed development will have two major access points – the new intersection of Magnuson Lane 
and 191st Street and the existing intersection of Greenway Boulevard and 80th Avenue. 

• The access points will be shared with the 52 existing townhome units on Brushwood Lane and Enclave 
Lane and any future development in the southwest corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue. 

 
g. When a Planned Unit Development proposes the use of private streets, common driveways, private 

recreation facilities, or common open space, the developer shall provide and submit, as part of the 
application, the method and arrangement whereby these private facilities shall be operated and 
maintained; 

• The proposed development includes private amenities for the occupants, private parking areas and 
drive aisles, and common open space. 

• The Applicant will provide management services 24/7 with a management office on-site open Monday-
Friday from 9am-5pm. 

 
h. The general development plan shall contain such proposed covenants, easements, and other 

provisions relating to the bulk, location, and density of residential buildings, non-residential uses 
and structures, and public facilities as are necessary for the welfare of the Planned Unit 
Development and the Village.  All such covenants shall specifically provide for enforcement by the 
Village of Tinley Park in addition to the landowners within the development; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development, as amended, noted general development plans for the 
PUD. 

• Certain conditions are placed on the Special Use Permit approval regulating the operation of the 
proposed development. 

 
i. The developer shall provide and record easements and covenants, and shall make such other 

arrangements as furnishing a performance bond, escrow deposit, or other financial guarantees as 
may be reasonably be required to assure performance in accordance with the development plan and 
to protect the public interest in the event of abandonment of said plan before completion; and 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development included certain easements, covenants, and financial 
guarantees. 

• Appropriate financial securities will be provided as required by Village ordinance. 
 

j. Any exceptions or modifications of the zoning, subdivision, or other regulations that would 
otherwise be applicable to the site are warranted by the design of the proposed development plan, 
and the amenities incorporated in it, are consistent with the general interest of the public. 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development included exceptions from the Zoning Ordinance. In the 
specific case of the areas planned for condo/apartments, the exceptions included the allowable density 
and the height of the structures. 

• The Applicant requests an exception from the allowable height of the structures and an exception from 
the required front yard setback. 

 
 
RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENTS:   
(It is important to note that these standards are customarily applied for the adoption of a new PUD, not a 
Substantial Deviation, and therefore some have limited applicability) 
 

a. The density of any Residential Planned Unit Development shall not exceed the density allowed in 
the district in which the Planned Unit Development is located, except the Plan Commission may 
recommend, and the Village Board may grant, an increase in the density up to but not more than 
twenty (20) percent, provided the proposed development provides additional open space and 
amenities to compensate for the increased density.  The Plan Commission, in determining the 
reasonableness of a proposed increase in the number of dwelling units per acre, shall take into 
consideration: 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 9 of 17 
 

(1) The physical characteristics of the site that may make increased densities appropriate in the 
particular location; 

(2) The amount, location, and proposed use of common open space;  
(3) The location, design, and type of dwelling units proposed; and  
(4) The provision of unique design features such as golf courses, lakes, swimming pools, 

underground parking, and other similar features within the Planned Unit Development, which 
require unusually high development costs and which achieve an especially attractive and stable 
development.  Land within the Planned Unit Development, which is used for open space, may be 
included as gross area for calculations of density. 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development approved a certain allowable density (144 dwelling 

units). 
• The condo/apartment portion of the PUD was approved for 12 du/acre (258 units / 21.5 acres) per 

Resolution 90-R-002 and then amended in Ordinance 2000-O-006 to allow for 13 du/acre (352 units / 
27 acres).  Staff notes that it is uncertain whether this is net or gross density, but assumes it is gross 
density since it is consistent with the gross density requirements of R-5 and R-6 Zoning Districts. 

• The existing Brookside Place condominiums (which were constructed in three phases) have an average 
density of 18.7 du/acre. This is a net density calculation; without information regarding what area 
was considered part of the original gross density calculation a comparison is not possible. 

• The proposed development has a density of 18.8 du/acre and includes the remaining 144 units that 
were approved in 2000 (352 total units approved – 208 units constructed in Brookside Place = 144 
approved units remaining). This is a net density calculation; without information regarding what area 
was considered part of the original gross density calculation a comparison is not possible. 

• The Applicant is not requesting an increase from the number of dwelling units that were approved for 
the condo/apartment portion of the PUD. 

• The Applicant is providing over four (4) acres of open space. 
 

b. When a Planned Unit Development is proposed in a single-family residential zone, seventy (70) 
percent of all dwelling units proposed within the zone shall be intended for single-family 
occupancy.  For the purpose of this Section, a townhouse shall be considered as a single-family 
dwelling; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development consists of a majority of single-family dwellings. The 
only existing multi-family dwellings are the Brookside Place condominiums. Other planned areas 
included Community Shopping, Office/Restricted Industrial, and parks. 

• The Applicant is not requesting an increase from the number of dwelling units that were approved for 
the condo/apartment portion of the PUD. 

 
c. No minimum lot area is required for individual buildings, except that individual lots for single-

family detached dwellings, which may be provided within the overall Planned Unit Development, 
shall not be less than six thousand five hundred (6,500) square feet in area and single-family 
attached and semi-detached dwelling units not less than three thousand (3,000) square feet of lot 
area; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
d. Not more than six (6) dwelling units shall be permitted in a single-family attached building.  “Single-

Family Attached Building” is defined as a building containing two or more single-family attached 
dwelling units joined at one or more points by one or more party walls or common facilities not 
including the walls of an enclosed courtyard or similar area; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
e. When single-family attached dwellings are proposed within a Residential Planned Unit 

Development, the front or rear facade of a dwelling unit shall not be less than sixty (60) feet from 
the front or rear facade of another dwelling unit.  The unattached side face of a single-family 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 10 of 17 
 

attached building shall not be less than twenty (20) feet from the side face of another such building 
and not less than forty (40) feet from the front or rear face of another such building or unit; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
f. No dwelling unit shall be situated so as to face the rear of another dwelling unit unless adequate 

landscaping is provided to effectively create a visual separation; 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• The proposed development does not situate dwelling units in a manner that faces the front of a 

dwelling unit toward the rear of another dwelling unit. Landscape buffering and distance between the 
proposed development and existing residential structures has been provided. 

 
g. Non-residential or local business-type uses (limited to those permitted in the B-1 Neighborhood 

Shopping District) may be included as part of a Residential Planned Unit Development when the 
Plan Commission finds that: 
(1) Such business uses are beneficial to the overall Residential Planned Unit Development and will 

not be injurious to adjacent or neighboring properties;  
(2) Such uses are not available within reasonable proximity of the subject area;  
(3) Are gauged primarily for the service and convenience of the residents of the subject area; and 
(4) Are designed as a unit of limited size and made an integral part of the proposed    Residential 

Planned Unit Development. 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development would have accounted for this provision. 
• This provision does not state requirements for multi-family structures. 

 
h. Combination of business and multiple-family residential uses in one structure may be permitted in 

a structure provided that: 
(1) The business uses are limited to personal services and convenience type uses  intended solely 

for the purpose of serving those residing in the multiple-family complex; and 
(2) No businesses are permitted on the same floor or above a floor used for residential purposes. 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development did not call for any mixed-use structures. 
• The proposed development does not include commercial uses under the residential dwellings. 

 
i. Ten (10) percent of the gross land area of a Planned Unit Development, or a minimum of seven 

hundred fifty (750) square feet per dwelling unit, whichever is greater, shall be developed for 
recreational open space; except that in multiple-family areas, the minimum square feet per 
dwelling unit shall be computed on the basis of two hundred (200) square feet for each efficiency 
and one (1) bedroom unit, three hundred fifty (350) square feet for each two (2) bedroom units, 
and five hundred fifty (550) square feet for each three (3) or more bedroom units.  When private 
common open space is provided within a Planned Unit Development, such open space shall not be 
computed as part of the required minimum lot area, or any required yard, or any other structure.  
Open spaces proposed for either dedication to the public or common ownership by the residents of 
the Residential Planned Unit Development shall be retained as open space for park and 
recreational use for the life of the Planned Unit Development.  A variety of open space and 
recreational areas is encouraged, including children’s informal play in close proximity to individual 
dwelling units according to the concentration of dwellings, formal parks, picnic areas, playgrounds, 
areas of formal recreational activities such as tennis, swimming, golf, etc.; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned over 122 acres of parks and recreation 
space according to Exhibit C of Resolution 90-R-002. 

• There are 48 one bedroom units and 96 two bedroom units in the proposed plan. Per the standards 
above, the required open space for the proposed development would be 43,200 square feet (.99 acres). 
The Applicant is providing over four (4) acres of open space, which is three (3) acres more than this 
requirement. 

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 11 of 17 
 

j. Each Residential Planned Unit Development shall provide for the visual and acoustical privacy of 
each dwelling unit.  Fences, walks, and landscaping shall be provided for the protection and 
aesthetic enhancement of property and the privacy of its occupants, screening of objectionable 
views, or uses and reduction of noise;  

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The Applicant’s plans indicate landscaping throughout the site to buffer from other parcels; the 

landscape plan will meet the intent of the Landscape Ordinance. Sidewalks and a bike trail connection 
are also shown on the plans. The west side of the buildings will face the ComEd right-of-way. 

 
k. The pedestrian circulation system and its related walkways shall be insulated as completely as 

possible from the street system in order to provide separation of pedestrian and vehicular 
movements.  This shall include, when deemed to be necessary by the Plan Commission, pedestrian 
underpasses or overpasses in the vicinity of schools, playgrounds, local shopping areas, and other 
neighborhood uses which generate a considerable amount of pedestrian traffic; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the pedestrian layout of the 
development. 

• The Applicant’s plans indicate sidewalks and a bike trail connection that will link with the existing 
sidewalks and trails. 

 
l. At least two (2) off-street parking spaces shall be provided for each dwelling unit, except as may be 

otherwise required.  Such parking shall be provided convenient to all dwelling units (not more than 
three hundred (300) feet from the dwelling unit as measured along the shortest paved route).  
Driveways, parking areas, walks, and steps shall be well paved, maintained, and lighted for night 
use.  Screening of parking and service areas shall be encouraged through ample use of trees, shrubs, 
hedges, and screening walls; 

• The Applicant’s plans indicate one (1) covered parking space for each unit and one (1) outdoor 
parking space per unit. Additionally, seventy-two (72) parking spaces are land banked for potential 
parking needs. The parking ratio is 2.5 spaces per dwelling unit for a total requirement of 360 spaces – 
all of which have been provided on the plans. 

 
m. Access and circulation shall adequately provide for firefighting equipment, delivery trucks, 

furniture moving vans, refuse collection, and snow removal; 
• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The Applicant’s plans meet the requirements of the Fire Department and drive aisles allow for other 

vehicles to safely traverse the site. Trash enclosures are located in areas that are accessible for trash 
collection. 

 
n. All Residential Planned Unit Developments shall provide for underground installation of utilities, 

including telephone and power, in both public and private rights-of-way.  Provision shall be made 
for acceptable design and construction of storm sewer facilities, including water retention areas, 
grading, gutters, piping, and treatment of turf to handle stormwater, prevent erosion, and 
formation of dust; 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The proposed development will comply with these provisions. 

 
o. All buildings within a Residential Planned Unit Development shall be set back not less than twenty-

five (25) feet from a public dedicated street, and along the exterior boundaries not adjoining a 
street, there shall be a minimum setback of forty (40) feet plus one (1) foot for each additional foot 
that the building increases in height over thirty-five (35) feet; 

• In 2013, the Village adopted an overlay district for certain areas of the Village that called for lesser 
front yard setbacks (20’ maximum front yard setback). The Applicant designed the proposed 
development to meet the intent of the overlay district but still respect the character of the existing 
development. The front yard setbacks of the buildings range from 14’ to 36’.  

 



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 12 of 17 
 

p. A twenty (20) foot buffer including, but not limited to, solid fences, masonry walls, or plant 
materials, shall be provided so as to constitute the visual screening of all parking areas and outdoor 
activity areas from adjacent property or rights-of-way at ground level.  Where a buffer already 
exists on the adjacent property line, or where parking areas or similar activity areas adjoin each 
other on adjacent properties, the buffer requirements may be waived by the Plan Commission; and 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development master planned the layout of the development. 
• The proposed plans indicate a landscape buffer from adjacent rights-of-way, parking areas, and 

activity areas. 
 

q. When the development is to be constructed in stages or units, a sequence of development schedules 
shall be provided showing the order of construction of each principal functional element of such 
stages or units, the approximate completion date for each stage or unit, and a cost estimate for all 
improvements within each stage or unit. 

• The Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development has been constructed in many phases and units. 
• The Applicant intends to construct the proposed development in a single phase. 

 

 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 13 of 17 
 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
has provided draft Findings below (see bullet points) for the Public Hearing that can be supplemented as a result of 
testimony and discussion at the Public Hearing. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: 

 
a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;  
• The proposed use is consistent with the use and density of the approved PUD (and Substantial 

Deviation) with 144 multi-family units, however the 144 units are provided in two (2) structures 
instead of nine (9).  
 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood;  

• The proposed use increases the amount of green space and distance from existing residential uses from 
previously approved site plans. As part of the proposed development, ROW improvements for 
Magnuson Lane will be completed including its intersection with 191st Street, thereby improving 
circulation and access for existing residential dwellings. Landscape buffers have been designed to 
screen off-street parking areas.  The proposed Site Plan is consistent with the intent of the Urban 
Overlay District which prioritizes the architecture of the project and minimizes the appearance of 
parking areas. 

 
c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;   
• The proposed development is consistent with land use and density approvals in the original PUD. 
• The adjacent vacant property is planned for commercial uses; the addition of residential units may 

provide incentive for development of these parcels to occur. 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are 
being provided;  

• Existing road and utility infrastructure is in place; Right-of-way improvements including sidewalks 
will be completed as part of the proposed development. 

 
e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets;  
• The density has not changed from original approvals.   

 
f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district 

in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village 
Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose 
such conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be 
necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such 
permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this 
Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this 
Ordinance.  

• Two exceptions are requested with the proposed development: Building height and building setback. 
• Staff has recommended conditions of approval 

 
g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development 

of the community as a whole.  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 14 of 17 
 

• The subject property has remained vacant since the 1990 adoption of the PUD.  The proposed 
development will increase property tax revenue and has potential to increase the sales tax revenue of 
commercial uses in the Village. 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 15 of 17 
 

RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motion would read:  
 
 “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Applicant, Andrea T. 
Crowley, on behalf of Karli Mayher and KJM-Vandenberg Brookside Joint Venture, for a Substantial Deviation from 
the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development to allow for the construction of two (2) four-story multi-family 
structures with semi-underground parking containing seventy-two (72) units in each building for a total of 144 
dwelling units on the subject site and a 3,495 square foot clubhouse, generally located in the southwest corner of 
Magnuson Lane and 191st Street in the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development, in accordance with plans as 
noted on the List of Reviewed Plans within the Staff Report.  The Plan Commission also adopts the Standards for a 
Planned Unit Development and Findings of Fact for a Special Use Permit drafted in the Staff Report and discussed at 
this meeting.” 
 

…with the following exceptions: 
 

1. Building Setback: That the setback of the structures can exceed the maximum setback required in 
the Urban Design Overlay District in accordance with the plans submitted on the List of Reviewed 
Plans; and 
 

2. Building Height: That the maximum building height of the structures can exceed the maximum 
building height established in Ordinance 2000-O-006 in accordance with the plans submitted on 
the List of Reviewed Plans. 

 
  

…The Special Use Permit is recommended with the following conditions: 
 

1. That the Applicant provides amenities per the plans; 
 

2. Applicant constructing parking spaces identified as “land banked” per Village Board direction; 
 

3. Staff approval of a Security Plan; 
 

4. Restrict use of dog park hours to daylight hours; 
 

5. Staff approval of final landscape plan; 
6. Staff approval of decorative wall sconces; 
7. Completion of residential amenities (including clubhouse) prior to final occupancy of the dwelling 

units in at least one of the residential structures; 
8. Completion of public improvements (sidewalk, lighting, street trees and intersection improvements 

at 191st) prior to final occupancy of at least on residential structure; and  
9. [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 16 of 17 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
The following attachments correspond to the proposed project and are included in the Plan Commission Meeting 
Packet for June 28, 2017:  
 

1. Revised Site Plan 
2. Revised Landscape Plan (with labels) 
3. Revised Landscape Plan (without labels) 
4. Market Study Summary by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc. 
5. Summary Planning Analysis by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc. 
6. Public Comments Response by Tracy Cross & Associates, Inc. 
7. Plan Commission Minutes from 4/15/1999, 8/5/1999, and 9/16/1999 
8. Village Board Minutes from 9/7/1999, 9/21/1999, and 2/15/2000 
9. Revised Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
10. Article from Crain’s Chicago Business dated June 19, 2017 

 
  



The Residence at Brookside Glen – SWC of Magnuson Lane and 191st Street 
 

Page 17 of 17 
 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

 Plat of Survey AS 06/13/2016 

A-0.0 Cover Sheet AS 06/13/2016 

 Color Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

A-1.0 Schematic Site Plan (Color) AS 06/08/2017 

A-1.1 Signage Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-1.2 Refuse Enclosure Plan & Elevation AS 01/25/2017 

A-1.3 Photometric Site Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-1.4    Exterior Light Fixture Cut Sheets AS 01/25/2017 

A-2.0 Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-2.1 Building Elevation B&W/Color Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-2.2 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

A-2.3 Building Elevation  AS 06/13/2016 

A-3.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.1 Partial Lower Level Bldg 1 AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 1 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.3 Partial First Floor Plan Bldg 1  B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.4 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-3.5 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-4.0 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-4.1 Building Elevation Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-4.2 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

A-4.3 Building Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

A-5.0 Partial Lower Level Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.1 Partial Lower Level  Bldg 2 AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.2 Partial Lower Level Plan Bldg 2 B&W/Color AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.3 Partial First Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.4 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-5.5 Unit Floor Plans AS 01/25/2017 

A-6.0 Common Area Details AS 01/25/2017 

A-6.1 Club House Elevation AS 06/13/2016 

A-7.0 Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

A-7.1 Club House Elevations AS 01/25/2017 

A-7.2 Club House Rendering AS 01/25/2017 

A-8.0 Club House Floor Plan AS 01/25/2017 

A-8.9 Site Plan AS 06/13/2016 

L-1 Landscape Plan EEA 06/21/2017 

L-1 Color Landscape Plan EEA 06/21/2017 

 Partial Color Rendering   

  
AS  Architectural Studio, Ltd. 
EEA  Eriksson Engineering Associates, Ltd. 

 















































































































































































































































































Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
In Relation to the Proposed Residences at Brookside Glen Development 

 
As of June 23, 2017 

 
Summary of Brookside Glen History:  
 

• 1989: A Pre-Annexation Agreement was adopted as Ordinance 89-O-052. Minutes from the Plan Commission 
regarding the proposed Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development (PUD) reflect that the “Condo/apartment 
portion [of the proposed Brookside Glen PUD] is 12 du/acre.”  
 
This is important because the area was recognized with potential for either condo or apartments.  
 

• 1990: The Annexation Agreement (Resolution 90-R-002) was adopted on January 11, 1990. This agreement 
also accounted for the Special Use Permit for the Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development. This agreement 
noted “21.5 acres for condominiums under the R-6 Medium Density Residential District” and “258 
condominiums in the R-6 zoned portion”.  
 

  
Excerpt from Exhibit C from 90-R-002  

 
This is important because the property may actually be zoned R-6 rather than R-5 as referenced in later 
documents and on the Zoning Map. This also establishes the entitlement for 21.5 acres of condominiums 
with 258 units allowed.  
 
Also, the Brookside Glen property was officially annexed under Ordinance 90-O-004 and Ordinance 90-O-
005. The first amendment to the Brookside Glen Annexation Agreement was adopted on February 6, 1990 
(90-R-004). 
 
Ordinance 90-O-008 was adopted on February 27, 1990 (although the ordinance itself incorrectly states the 
adoption year as 1989). This ordinance annexed the Brookside Glen property again due to concerns with 
proper notice for the annexation. Ordinance 90-O-009 officially rezoned the Brookside Glen property 
following annexation, although the exhibit detailing the rezoning was not attached to the copy of the 
ordinance. 
 
 
 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 2 of 10 

• 1994: Another amendment to the Brookside Glen Annexation Agreement was approved on October 25, 1994 
as Resolution 94-R-030 (labeled in error as 94-O-030).  This amendment included changes to some of the 
standards for the single-family residential lots, updated fees, discussed requirements for dedication of public 
streets and sidewalks, and discussed water mains and sanitary sewers. 
 

• 1998: A parcel is annexed and added to the Brookside Glen PUD per Ordinance 98-O-018 and Ordinance 98-
O-019 on March 17, 1998. A 200’ x 209’ parcel was annexed and added to the Brookside Glen PUD. The 
parcel was not available in 1990 when the original PUD was approved. The property that was annexed is 
located near approximately 19501 88th Avenue (currently this is approximately Brookside Glen Drive and 88th 
Avenue). 

 
• 1999: Staff notes that the November 4, 1999 Plan Commission meeting minutes indicate that the New Lenox 

Pumping Station was considered for a Special Use Permit. The minutes discuss the property as being zoned 
R-6 PD.  

 
This supports that there might be an error on the Zoning Map. Staff has not found any record of the 
condominium/apartment portion of the PUD being rezoned from R-6 to R-5 (as shown on the current Zoning 
Map). 
 

• 2000: A Substantial Deviation to the original Brookside Glen Planned Unit Development was approved on 
February 15, 2000 as Ordinance 2000-O-006. This Substantial Deviation amended the acreage and dwelling 
units for single-family, townhomes, and condominiums. The allowable acreage of condominiums increased 
from 21.5 acres to 27 acres and the allowable number of dwelling units increased from 258 to 352 dwelling 
units. The Ordinance also allowed for an increase in the allowable building height for the condominium 
buildings (from three stories to four stories with underground parking). The Substantial Deviation was 
considered at the Plan Commission meetings on 4/15/1999, 5/6/1999,8/5/1999 and 9/16/1999 and the 
Village Board meetings on 9/7/1999, 9/21/1999, 1/4/2000, 1/18/2000, 2/1/2000, and 2/15/2000. 

 
Staff notes that this Ordinance may have an error because it states “there will be 16 condominium buildings 
with 22 units in each building.” Plan Commission meeting minutes from September 16, 2000 note 
“…proposed 4-story, 16-unit, 56’ high building. There would be a total of 22 buildings, for a total of 352 
dwelling units.” Staff believes that the Ordinance should state “there will be 22 condominium buildings with 
16 units in each building.” Additionally, the Ordinance refers to the condominium portion of the PUD as being 
zoned R-5 rather than R-6 as indicated in 90-R-002. Staff has not found any record of the condominium 
portion of the PUD being rezoned from R-6 to R-5. Exhibits were not attached to the Village’s copy of the 
Ordinance; however, Staff located some plans that were included with the paperwork for the 1999 Legal 
Notice for the Substantial Deviation. 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 3 of 10 

 
Excerpt from the Site Plan for the Southwest Corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue  

(Staff believes this was included with the Legal Notice for the Substantial Deviation in 1999) 

 
Excerpt from the Site Plan for the Southeast Corner of 191st Street and 80th Avenue  

(Staff believes this was included with the Legal Notice for the Substantial Deviation in 1999) 
 

• 2001: The Plat for Brookside Place Phase I was recorded on January 12, 2001 and included the first seven (7) 
multi-family buildings (see buildings 1-7 on the image on the following page). The buildings had sixteen (16) 
units each for a total of one hundred twelve (112) dwelling units. The Plan Commission recommended 
approval of the Plat on October 5, 2000.   
 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 4 of 10 

• 2002: The Plat for Brookside Place Phase II was recorded on June 28, 2002 and included two (2) multi-family 
buildings (see buildings 8-9 on the image on the following page). The buildings had sixteen (16) units each 
for a total of thirty-two (32) dwelling units. The Plan Commission recommended approval of the Plat on 
February 21, 2002. 

 

 
Excerpt from Engineering Plans for Brookside Place (2002) 

 
• 2004: The Plat for Brookside Place Phase III was recorded on August 5, 2004 and included four (4) multi-

family buildings (see buildings 10-13 on the image on the next page). The buildings had sixteen (16) units 
each for a total of sixty-four (64) dwelling units. The Plan Commission recommended approval of the Plat on 
May 20, 2004.  
 
Staff notes that at this point there are a total of thirteen (13) buildings developed and each building has 
sixteen (16) dwelling units for a total dwelling unit count of 208. Per Ordinance 2000-O-006 (as intended) the 
remaining number of buildings allowed on the remainder of the condo/apartment portion of the PUD is nine 
(9) and the remaining number of dwelling units allowed is one hundred forty-four (144) (see buildings 14-22 
on the images on the next page). 
 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 5 of 10 

 
Image Showing the Brookside Place Structures 

 

  
Image Showing Remainder of the Multi-Family Structures 

as Denoted on the 2002 Engineering Plans 
Aerial Image Showing Remainder of the Multi-Family 
Structures as Denoted on the 2002 Engineering Plans 

 

• 2007: Planning Staff notes that a project called “Brookside Ridge” was proposed in 2007 that called for nine 
(9) two-story, eight (8) unit townhome-style condominium buildings and one (1) four-story, sixteen (16) unit 
condominium building. The project had eighty-eight (88) dwelling units. This project would have required a 
Substantial Deviation from the Brookside Glen PUD due to the change in dwelling type and reduction in 
number of dwelling units. This project was not approved by the Plan Commission and was not viewed 
favorably due to concerns about the building orientation and architecture. The project was tabled to a date 
uncertain at the November 15, 2007 Plan Commission meeting. Staff notes that a letter was sent to the 
Planning Department from RBT Development, Inc. that indicated that the existing 4-story condominium 
buildings were 63’6” tall. 

 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 6 of 10 

 
Proposed Site Plan for Brookside Ridge Development (2007) 

 

 
Rendering of a Proposed Structure within the Brookside Ridge Development (2007) 

 
 

  



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 7 of 10 

• 2014: Planning Staff notes that a project was proposed at this site in 2014 that called for up to one hundred, 
twenty-three (123) three-story single-family attached row houses within a total of seventeen (17) structures. 
This plan was well-received by the Plan Commission; however, the developer did not proceed with obtaining 
approvals from the Village due to issues with the location of the pipeline and a proposed row house 
building. 
 

 
Proposed Site Plan for the Brookside Ridge Row House Development (2014) 

 

 
Color Elevation of a Proposed Structure within the Brookside Ridge Row House Development (2014) 

 
  



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 8 of 10 

• 2016: The Applicant formally submitted a complete application (“The Residences at Brookside Glen”) on July 
5, 2016 for two (2) four-story, one hundred, forty-four (144) unit multi-family apartment buildings, with 
surface parking  and parking in garages at the rear of the site and an accompanying clubhouse building. Each 
building had seventy-two (72) units with a mixture of one, two, and three-bedroom layouts. This plan is 18.8 
dwelling units per acre but is a different product from what was approved in the Substantial Deviation to the 
Planned Unit Development (2000-O-006) in 2000. 
 
Staff met with the Applicant to discuss the proposed plans on the following dates: 

o February 11, 2016 (pre-application meeting) 
o May 11, 2016 (pre-application meeting) 
o May 17, 2016 (pre-application meeting) 
o August 31, 2016 
o September 21, 2016 
o December 13, 2016 

 

 
Proposed Site Plan from Submittal #1 of the Residences of Brookside Ridge Development (2016) 

 

 
Partial Rendering of a Proposed Structure from Submittal #1  

of the Residences of Brookside Ridge Development (2016) 
  



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 9 of 10 

• 2017: The Applicant submitted revised plans based on Staff’s comments. The plans indicate two (2) four-
story, one hundred, forty-four (144) unit multi-family apartment buildings and an accompanying clubhouse 
building. The buildings also include semi-underground parking on the bottom floor and provide one indoor 
parking space per unit. Each building has seventy-two (72) units with a mixture of one and two-bedroom 
layouts. There are no longer plans for any three-bedroom units. The Applicant made substantial 
improvements to the Site Plan with respect to parking, circulation, architecture, roof line, additional green 
space, and landscaping. The Applicant also added more amenities to the plans. The Applicant made 
substantial improvements to the architecture of the buildings, including increasing the amount of brick, 
adding articulation along each façade, raising the building height in key sections of the buildings, offering 
floor-to-ceiling windows on the top floor, and adding sizeable balconies/terraces/patios to both the private 
units and as common spaces. The changes to the building height amount to about 64’ along the main ridge 
line and about 71’ at the peak of the taller features of the roof. 
 
Staff met with the Applicant to discuss the proposed plans on the following dates: 

o May 11, 2017 
o May 23, 2017 

 
The project was scheduled for the following Plan Commission agendas: 

o May 18, 2017 (Workshop) 
o June 1, 2017 (Public Hearing) 
o June 15, 2017 (Continuation/close first Public Hearing) 
o June 28, 2017 (Special Meeting – new Public Hearing) 

 

 
Proposed Site Plan from Submittal #10 of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 

 



Brookside Glen PUD Timeline 
 

Page 10 of 10 

 
Partial Renderings of a Proposed Structure from Submittal #10  

of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 

 

 

Proposed Site Plan from Submittal #15 of the Residences at Brookside Glen Development (2017) 
 



16 JUNE 19, 2017 • CRAIN'S CHICAGO BUSINESS 

As suburban apartment rents rise, how high is too high? 
BY ALBY GALLUN 

Apartment landlords in the 
suburbs keep hiking rents, and 
their buildings are a little emptier 
as a result. 

That's the takeaway from a new 
batch of data showing suburban 
apartment rents hit an all-time 
high in the first quarter while the 
suburban occupancy rate slipped 
to its lowest level in more than 
five years. The figures suggest 
some renters may be balking at 
rent increases in a market where 
landlords have had the upper 
hand for several years. 

The median net suburban 
apartment rent rose to $1.44 per 
square foot in the first quarter, 
up 3.6 percent from a year earlier, 

the quarter-not bad, but down 
from 96.3 percent a year earlier. 
The occupancy hasn't been that 
low since 2011. 

"What it says is, the owners are 
trying to push the rents a little 
bit," says Appraisal Research Vice 
President Ron DeVries. "I think 
the market says the rents are a lit
tle bit too high:' 

ROOM TO RISE 

Landlords have been able to 
hike rents steadily since the re
cession as the job market, the 
main driver of demand for apart
ments, has expanded and more 
people, especially millennials, 
have favored renting over buy
ing. A hypothetical 1,000-square
foot apartment in the suburbs 

now rents for $1,440 a 

11

\VHAT IT SAYS IS, THE OWNERS ARE 

TRYING TO PUSH THE RENTS A LITTLE 

month, up 36 percent 
from $1,060 in 2009, 
when rents last bot-
tomed out. 

BIT. I THINK THE MARKET SAYS THE 

RENTS ARE A LITTLE BIT TOO HIGH:' 

In some cases, de
mand for apartments 
increases when young 
workers move out of 
their parents' homes Ron DeVries, Appraisal Research Counselors 

according to Appraisal Research 
Counselors, a Chicago-based 
consulting firm. Net rents include 
concessions such as a free rent. 

The suburban occupancy rate, 
meanwhile, was 94.5 percent in 

and get places of their 
own. In others, renters who have 
been living with roommates feel 
financially secure enough to cov
er the extra cost of living alone. If 
rents get too high, those poten
tial new tenants will just decide 

to stay put. 
Landlords may take the recent 

occupancy drop as a signal to 
back off on rent hikes for the short 
term, but DeVries doesn't expect 
suburban rents to drop anytime 
soon. Demand for apartments 
remains strong, and supply is ris
ing due to development, but not 
enough to fuel the kind of compe
tition that leads to rent declines. 

DeVries expects that developers 
will complete about 2,000 apart
ments in the suburbs this year, 
down from 2,831 in 2016. That's a 
lot historically, but the construc
tion is spread over a large geo
graphical area, minimizing its im
pact on the market overall. 

Many landlords are willing to 
give up some occupancy if they 
can hike rents enough to maxi
mize property revenue, which is 
a function of both variables. Mar
ket revenue performance, a figure 
calculated by multiplying occu
pancy and rent, was still $1.36 in 
the suburbs in the first quarter, 
according to Appraisal Research. 
The only time it was higher than 
that was in second-quarter 2016, 
when it hit $1.37. 

Will County had the highest 
occupancy rate, 96.7 percent, 
among the 10 Chicago-area sub
markets tracked by Appraisal 
Research, while the North Shore 
had the lowest, 92.9 percent. Will 

J NO RENT RELIEF 

Suburban apartment rents hit an all-time 
high in the first quarter, but the 

occupancy rate fell to its lowest level in 
more than five years. 

OCCUPANCY VS. MEDIAN NET RENT* 

Rent per square foot, 1 Q 2007 to 1 Q 2017 

• '07 '08 '09 '10 '11 '12 '13 '14 '15 '16 '17 

'Net rent includes concessions such as free rent. 
Source: Appraisal Research Counselors 

County was also the only sub
market where the occupancy rate 
rose from first-quarter 2016. 

Rents rose in all the 10 Chi
cago-area submarkets. South 
Cook County posted the biggest 
increase in median net rent, 6.''. 
percent from first-quarter 20Hi. 
The Waukegan/Gurnee subma.r
ket pulled up the rear with a 0.7 
percent rise. 


	06-28-2017 Plan Commission Agenda for Special Meeting
	PC Minutes 20170615 - draft final
	Item #1 - Residences at Brookside Glen
	Residences at Brookside Glen - Staff Report 20170628
	Residences at Brookside Glen - Site Plan 20170609
	Residences at Brookside Glen - Landscape Plan 20170620
	Residences at Brookside Glen - Landscape Plan No Labels 20170620
	Tracy Cross - Market Study Summary scan
	Tracy Cross - Summary Planning Analysis scan
	Tracy Cross - Public Comments Response scan
	PC MINUTES 19990415
	PC MINUTES 19990805
	PC MINUTES 19990916
	VB MINUTES 19990907
	VB MINUTES 19990921
	VB MINUTES 20000215
	Brookside Glen Timeline Info 20170623
	Article - Crain's Apartment Rent 20170619




